IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 24-0369

PARKER NOLAND,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA, et al.,

Appellees,

EVERGREEN DISPOSAL, INC.,

Appellee-Intervenor.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from the Montana Eleventh District Court, Flathead County
No. DV-15-2022-0001308-CR, Honorable Judge Amy Eddy

APPEARANCES:*

ETHAN W. BLEVINS
Montana Bar No. 37415893
Pacific Legal Foundation
839 W 3600 S
Bountiful, UT 84010-8423
Telephone: (916) 288-1392
eblevins@pacificallegal.org

JACK E. BROWN**
Montana Bar No. P68806792
Pacific Legal Foundation
3100 Clarendon Boulevard, Ste. 1000
Arlington, VA 22201
Telephone: (202) 888-6881
jbrown@pacificallegal.org

AUSTIN KNUDSEN

INTRODUCTION

Parker Noland, a young entrepreneur, started a business hauling construction debris in Flathead County. The Montana Public Service Commission ordered him to cease operations because his company lacked a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity (PCN) to haul garbage commercially. When he submitted an application for a PCN, existing garbage company competitors protested the application. Unable to afford the costly fight, Mr. Noland withdrew the application.

Thereafter, he brought this civil rights lawsuit challenging two aspects of Montana's PCN process. First, he challenges the requirement that a new garbage hauler must prove its services are "needed." Second, he challenges the provision allowing existing garbage companies to protest and block competition from new haulers. These procedures do nothing to assess an applicant's qualifications; they simply allow existing companies to veto potential competitors. Accordingly, they violate Mr. Noland's rights under both the state and federal Constitutions.

Mr. Noland is exactly the type of person the Montana Declaration of Rights is meant to protect. The right to "pursue life's basic necessities" includes the pursuit of employment through entrepreneurship, and the government can only infringe that right if it satisfies strict scrutiny. *Wadsworth v. State*, 275 Mont. 287, 299 (1996). In turn, state and federal guarantees of due process and equal protection mean that the State cannot arbitrarily prevent Mr. Noland from making a living in his chosen field.

The challenged anticompetitive provisions cannot withstand even rational basis scrutiny.

The district court, however, ruled that Mr. Noland lacks standing to bring an as-applied challenge because he has not completed the application process. It also held that the challenged provisions are not facially unconstitutional because other applicants have obtained certificates after proving “need” and overcoming protests.

Both aspects of the district court’s decision should be overturned. First, Mr. Noland has standing to bring an as-applied challenge because he challenges aspects of the PCN process itself, not its outcome. Whether he completed the process is irrelevant, as plaintiffs may bring pre-enforcement challenges where the government has not disavowed future enforcement. The district court’s stance would force a plaintiff to endure an unconstitutional process before challenging it, a position long rejected by both Montana and federal courts.

Second, the district court erred in holding that the challenged provisions are not facially unconstitutional because some applicants have successfully navigated the process. The constitutional issue is not whether it is possible to obtain a certificate or whether requiring Mr. Noland to get a certificate is constitutional, but whether the barriers imposed by the challenged provisions are constitutional. A barrier that can be overcome is still a barrier, and is unconstitutional if its justification rings hollow. Here, the challenged barriers violate Mr. Noland’s

constitutional rights and cannot survive even deferential rational basis review, let alone the strict scrutiny demanded by the Montana Constitution. This Court should reverse the district court decision and grant summary judgment in Mr. Noland's favor.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether Mr. Noland has standing to bring an as-applied constitutional challenge to aspects of Montana's PCN process.
2. Whether the challenged provisions are unconstitutional under Article II, sections 3, 4, and 17, of the Montana Constitution and section 1 of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Noland brought this civil rights lawsuit against the State, the Commission, and the Commission members under sections 3 (right to pursue life's basic necessities), 17 (due process), and 4 (equal protection) of Article II of the Montana Constitution, as well as the Due Process and Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. An existing garbage company, Evergreen Disposal, was allowed to intervene on the side of the defendants. Doc. 34.00 at 4.

The parties conducted extensive discovery, after which Defendants and Mr. Noland filed competing motions for summary judgment and Evergreen filed a

motion to dismiss. The district court held a hearing, at which all parties agreed there are no genuine disputes of material fact. Transcript of Summ. J. Hearing at 35–36. On February 8, 2024, the district court granted Defendants’ motion for summary judgment and denied Mr. Noland’s.² *See* Doc. 101.00 at 2. It held that (1) Mr. Noland lacked standing to bring an as-applied challenge because he has not completed an application and (2) the challenged statutes are not facially unconstitutional because other applicants have been allowed to enter the garbage hauling industry in the past. Doc. 101.00 at 3–6. The court entered a final judgment on April 29, 2024. Doc. 108. Mr. Noland timely appealed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Plaintiff Parker Noland

Parker Noland is 23 years old and a resident of Kalispell. Doc. 55.00 ¶ 1. After he was medically discharged from the Army, he began working construction, during which he saw that debris pickups were often late, leaving it to pile up in dumpsters. Doc. 55.00 ¶ 3; Doc. 71.00, Ex. D at 109:1–10; *see also id.* at 109:11–110:13. Seeing a niche that was not adequately being filled, he began offering construction debris hauling services through his company, PBN LLC. Doc. 55.00 ¶ 3. Shortly after he

² The court partially granted Evergreen’s motion to dismiss, treating it as a motion for summary judgment. Doc. 101.00 at 2.

started operating, the Commission ordered him to cease operations because he lacked a Class D³ PCN Certificate. *Id.* ¶ 11–12.

Mr. Noland then submitted an application on behalf of his company. *Id.* ¶ 12. Soon after, he faced a significant obstacle—the ability of existing certificate holders to protest applications. *Id.* ¶ 13. Because he sought to haul “garbage” (broadly defined to include construction debris), subsidiaries of two large garbage companies protested, claiming that his company would conflict with their existing services. *Id.*; *see also* Doc. 56.10, Ex. 5 at DEF 253–58; Doc 56.10, Ex. 4 at 45:24–46:4. They also served intrusive discovery requests seeking information about his company’s tax returns, finances, insurance, and rates—information no business would be eager to share with competitors. Doc. 55.00 ¶ 14; Doc. 56.10, Ex. 9 at EVG 48–61, 99–109.

Mr. Noland paid an attorney over a thousand dollars to represent him in the legal proceeding triggered by the protests. He soon realized he would have to spend thousands more to have any hope of obtaining a certificate—an expense he could not afford. Doc. 55.00 ¶ 15. And even if he obtained a favorable ruling from the Commission, the protestors could seek judicial review, increasing the cost and

³ Motor carriers who haul garbage are “Class D” carriers. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-301(3). Other motor carriers include Class A (bus companies) and Class E (network carriers such as Uber and Lyft). *Id.* § 69-12-301(2).

delaying resolution of the application. *Id.* ¶ 16. Unable to afford the cost of these barriers, Mr. Noland withdrew the application. *Id.* ¶ 17.

Mr. Noland still wants to achieve his dream of offering debris hauling services in the Flathead Valley—he believes there is need for such services and that he is qualified to provide them. *Id.* ¶¶ 8, 21–22. Were it not for the barriers posed by the regulatory scheme challenged here—requiring the Commission to consider “need” and allowing incumbents to protest applications to prevent competition—he would apply for a certificate. *Id.* ¶¶ 9, 19–22.

II. The Challenged Need Requirement and Protest Procedure

Montana regulates commercial garbage haulers as “Class D motor carriers.” Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-301(3). “Garbage” includes “ashes, trash, waste, refuse, rubbish, organic or inorganic matter that is transported to a licensed transfer station, licensed landfill, licensed municipal solid waste incinerator, or licensed disposal well,” and thus includes the construction debris that Mr. Noland wishes to haul. *Id.* § 69-12-101(10).

Class D carriers must obtain a PCN certificate before beginning operations.⁴ To obtain one, an applicant must prove “public need” for their services, a requirement derived from the statutory requirement that the Commission consider

⁴ Commercial garbage hauling without a certificate can result in fines and civil penalties. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-108.

“the transportation service being furnished . . . by any . . . existing transportation agency” and “the effect that the proposed transportation service may have on other forms of transportation service that are essential and indispensable to the communities to be affected.” Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a)(i), (iii);⁵ Doc 58.00 ¶¶ 7–10 (Koopman declaration).⁶ These factors are unrelated to applicant fitness—instead, they require the Commission to consider whether existing companies are meeting the public need and whether competition from the applicant would harm those companies. *See* Doc 58.00 ¶¶ 7–10; Doc. 56.10, Ex. 1 at 51:24–54:9. The Commission can reject (and has rejected) applicants solely based on whether they might compete with an existing provider. *See, e.g.*, Doc. 56.10, Ex. 6 at DEF 7101–24.

Aggravating the harm posed by this regulatory scheme, the challenged provisions give existing providers—who have a financial incentive to exclude competitors—significant influence over the process. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321; Doc. 58.00 ¶¶ 5, 11–14. Existing companies are “interested parties” that must be

⁵ Mr. Noland does not challenge the provision that “a determination of public convenience and necessity may include a consideration of competition,” Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(b), because the legislative history shows the purpose of that language is to enable the Commission to consider the “*benefits* of competition” and “*need* for competition,” not to deny certificates to prevent competition. Doc. 69.10, Ex. B at 4, 13 (emphases added).

⁶ Roger Koopman served two terms as a Commissioner on the Montana Public Service Commission, during which he observed the “unreasonable and illogical obstacle course” for applicants created by the challenged provisions. Doc 58.00 ¶ 5.

notified of any new application. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321(1)–(2). They may then file protests with the Commission, identifying the geographical areas in which they believe there is a service conflict. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321(1)–(2); Mont. Admin. R. 38.3.405. Protests need not address applicant fitness or public health and safety concerns. *See* Doc. 54.00 at 5. In fact, the protest form provided by the Commission *only* offers space to protest because of a service conflict. *See* Doc. 54.00 at 5; Doc. 56.00 ¶ 6. Unsurprisingly, no protest from the past decade—all of which were filed by existing garbage companies—has raised any other reason for protesting. Doc. 56.00 ¶ 6.

Protests make the process more expensive and burdensome for applicants. Doc. 58.00 ¶¶ 11–14. If there is a protest, the Commission must schedule a hearing, which otherwise is not required. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321(1). The protestor can propound burdensome discovery on applicants, including “data requests,” depositions, interrogatories, requests for production, physical and mental examinations, and requests for admission. Mont. R. Civ. P. 26(a); *see also* Mont. Admin. R. 38.2.3301. The protestor may testify at the hearing regarding the “need” for a new company. *See* Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321(2); Doc. 58.00 ¶ 12; Doc. 56.10, Ex. 1 at 50:24–54:19. Given the hurdle that protests pose, it is hardly surprising that a protest is the strongest predictor for an application being denied or withdrawn. Of the 24 applications in the last decade, 12 were withdrawn, 2 were

denied, and 10 were granted. *See* 56.00 ¶ 6. All 12 withdrawals and both denials came after a protest. *Id.* Only 3 of the 10 granted applications were granted over a protest. *Id.* The remaining 7 were either granted with no protest or after the protest was withdrawn. *Id.*

The requirements that the Commission consider the “need” for a new company and allow existing companies to file anticompetitive protests are mandated by statute and thus will be enforced in all future applications. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-321, -323; Doc. 56.10, Ex. 1 at 50:24–54:19.

III. Mr. Noland’s Expert, Dr. James Bailey

Mr. Noland produced expert testimony from Dr. James Bailey, an economist and Associate Professor at Providence College. *See generally* Doc. 57.00. Dr. Bailey demonstrated using basic economic theory and a review of surveys in other industries that laws like Montana’s (1) reduce access to services, (2) increase costs, and (3) lead to lower quality services. Doc. 57.00, Ex. 1 at 4–30. This was the consistent finding in both the medical industry, where need review laws are most common, and the trucking industry, which is analogous to the garbage hauling industry. *Id.* at 17–30; Doc. 56.10, Ex. 2 at 19:8–15, 23:21–24:7, 26:1–8. By contrast, Dr. Bailey found that eliminating need review laws did not harm—and even improved—access to services, particularly in rural areas, while also reducing costs and improving quality. Doc. 57.00, Ex. 1 at 17–30.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court’s review of a grant or denial of summary judgment is *de novo*. *Nunez v. Watchtower Bible and Tract Society of N.Y., Inc.*, 2020 MT 3, ¶ 9. Summary judgment is appropriate when the record demonstrates that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.* “[D]enial, speculation, or conclusory statements” are insufficient to defeat summary judgment. *Peterson v. Eichhorn*, 2008 MT 250, ¶ 13. This Court must also determine the correctness of the district court’s legal conclusions, including concerning the constitutionality of a statute. *Williams v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm’rs of Missoula Cnty.*, 2013 MT 243, ¶ 23.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court ruling that Mr. Noland lacks standing to bring an as-applied challenge is incorrect as a matter of law. As this Court has held, individuals have standing to bring as-applied challenges where there is a possibility of a law being enforced against them in the future, unless that fear is “imaginary” or “wholly speculative.” *Gryczan v. State*, 283 Mont. 433, 445 (1997) (citing *Babbitt v. United Farm Workers Nat’l Union*, 442 U.S. 289 (1979)). Numerous federal courts have come to similar conclusions. *See, e.g., Ne. Fla. Ch. of the Associated Gen. Contractors of Am. v. City of Jacksonville*, 508 U.S. 656, 666 (1993); *Merrifield v. Lockyer*, 547 F.3d 978, 980 n.1 (9th Cir. 2008); *United Food & Com. Workers Int’l*

Union v. IBP, Inc., 857 F.2d 422, 427–28 (8th Cir.1988); *Bruner v. Zawacki*, 997 F. Supp. 2d 691, 697 (E.D. Ky. 2014). Here, the procedures Mr. Noland challenges will be enforced in any future application he files. That is not “imaginary” or “wholly speculative,” but mandated by statute. The Commission enforces those statutes as to all applications and has acknowledged that it will continue to do so.

The district court also erred in holding that the challenged statutes are not facially unconstitutional because others have successfully overcome the barrier they pose to working as a garbage hauler. In a challenge to a government-imposed barrier, the constitutional violation is caused by the challenged barrier itself, not the inability to overcome that barrier. *See, e.g., Ne. Fla. Ch. of the Associated Gen. Contractors of Am.*, 508 U.S. at 666. Here, the barrier posed by Montana’s PCN scheme violates Mr. Noland’s constitutional rights to pursue employment and earn a living under Article II, sections 3, 4, and 17 of the Montana Constitution, and under the Fourteenth Amendment. It is unconstitutional both facially and as applied to him, and is so disconnected from any legitimate government interest that it cannot survive even rational basis review, let alone the strict scrutiny Article II, section 3, requires. Based on the record in this case, there are no circumstances in which requiring a vague showing of “need” is constitutional. Similarly, the evidence shows that allowing existing companies to protect themselves from competition through

protesting applications serves no legitimate governmental interest. This Court should reverse the trial court’s ruling and grant summary judgment to Mr. Noland.

ARGUMENT

I. Mr. Noland Has Standing to Bring His As-Applied Challenge

A plaintiff has standing to raise a claim if he can satisfy two criteria: “(1) the claim is based on an alleged wrong or illegality that has in fact caused, or is likely to cause, the plaintiff to personally suffer specific, definite, and direct harm,” to the exercise of a right and “(2) the alleged harm is of a type that available legal relief can effectively alleviate, remedy, or prevent.” *Larson v. State ex rel. Stapleton*, 2019 MT 28, ¶ 46. An as-applied constitutional challenge argues that “the statute is unconstitutional as applied to the facts of a particular situation.” *State v. Knudson*, 2007 MT 324, ¶ 16.⁷

This Court has long recognized that under these criteria, plaintiffs have standing to bring as-applied constitutional challenges where there is a realistic possibility of future enforcement, unless fear of enforcement is “imaginary” or

⁷ The district court’s ruling that Mr. Noland lacks standing to bring an as-applied challenge also lacks support in caselaw because

the distinction between facial and as-applied challenges is not so well defined that it has some automatic effect or that it must always control the pleadings and disposition in every case involving a constitutional challenge. The distinction is both instructive and necessary, for it goes to the breadth of the remedy employed by the Court, not what must be pleaded in a complaint.

Citizens United v. Fed. Election Comm’n, 558 U.S. 310, 331 (2010).

“wholly speculative.” *Gryczan*, 283 Mont. at 445. In fact, it has suggested that “nothing short of an express unconditional statement that the law will not be enforced will bar plaintiffs from challenging a law.” *Id.* (citing *United Food & Com. Workers*, 857 F.2d at 427–28).

In *Gryczan*, plaintiffs challenged a Montana statute criminalizing consensual sex between adults of the same sex. 283 Mont. at 441. The State claimed that the plaintiffs lacked standing because they had not been arrested or prosecuted for violating the statute and there was no credible threat of enforcement because no one had ever been arrested under the statute. *Id.* This Court disagreed. *Id.* at 442–46. It recognized that the plaintiffs had standing for three reasons.

First, the statute burdened conduct that the plaintiffs wanted to engage in. *Id.* at 442–43. The Court observed that although the statute had not been enforced against the plaintiffs, it had been amended recently, and the Montana legislature had declined multiple times to repeal it. *Id.* at 443–44. The Court also noted that the plaintiffs were the type of individuals the statute was designed to impact, and the State had not disavowed enforcement. *Id.* at 444–45. Second, “[t]he controversy must be one upon which the judgment of the court may effectively operate, as distinguished from a debate or argument invoking a purely political, administrative, philosophical or academic conclusion” *Id.* at 442. Declaring the law unconstitutional would have a real effect on plaintiffs’ ability to engage in their

desired activity without fear of arrest. *Id.* Third, the court’s judgment would finally determine the plaintiffs’ rights by determining the constitutionality of the statute. *See id.* The Court thus concluded that the plaintiffs had standing.

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