IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 24-0369

PARKER NOLAND,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA, et al.,

Defendants and Appellees,

and

EVERGREEN DISPOSAL, INC.,

Appellee-Intervenor.

APPELLEES' RESPONSE BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eleventh Judicial District Court, Cause No.
DV 22-1308-CR, Flathead County, The Honorable Amy Eddy, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

Austin Knudsen

Montana Attorney General

Michael Russell

Alwyn Lansing

Thane Johnson

Assistant Attorneys General

MONTANA DEPT OF JUSTICE

PO Box 201401

Helena, MT 59620-1401

Telephone: 406-444-2026

michael.russell@mt.gov

alwyn.lansing@mt.gov

thane.johnson@mt.gov

Emily Jones

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

to reasonable restraint and regulation by the state in the exercise of its sovereign prerogative-police powers.” *Wiser v. State*, 2006 MT 20, ¶ 24, 331 Mont. 28, 129 P.3d 133. The State has the power to regulate. While any instance of regulation may be viewed as an “obstacle,” such regulation is not automatically unconstitutional.

The cases Noland relies on are distinguishable. Using them to forge a new, “unconstitutional obstacle” precedent in Montana would upend regulations rooted in the police powers of the State. Noland’s “unconstitutional obstacle” theory does not apply, and this Court should reject the same.

B. THIS COURT CAN AFFIRM THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISIONS ON NOLAND'S FACIAL CHALLENGES FOR OTHER REASONS.

If the District Court is not affirmed for the reasons stated in the Order, the State requests that the Court affirm the District Court judgment on other grounds. *Johnson Farms, Inc. v. Halland*, 2012 MT 215, ¶ 11, 366 Mont. 299, 291 P.3d 1096.

Based on the plain language of the Provisions, Noland cannot demonstrate the Provisions are unconstitutional in all instances. The “need” requirements in Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a) have twice been affirmed as constitutional. *Barney*, 93 Mont. at 124; *Fulmer v. Board of R.R. Comm'rs*, 96 Mont. 22, 30, 28 P.2d 849, 851–82 (1934). The laws challenged as unconstitutional in *Barney* are very similar to the requirements of Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a). Compare Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a) with 1931 Mont. Laws 491 at 498–99.

The 1931 laws upheld in *Barney* stated, “in determining whether or not a certificate should be issued, the board shall give reasonable consideration to the transportation services being furnished or that will be furnished by any railroad, or other existing transportation agency.” 1931 Mont. Laws 491 at 498–499. Similarly, Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a)(i) states that the Commission shall consider “the transportation service being furnished or that will be furnished by any railroad or other existing transportation agency.”

Next, the 1931 laws stated that the Commission “shall give due consideration to the likelihood of the proposed service being permanent and continuous throughout twelve months of the year.” 1931 Mont. Laws 491 at 499. Similarly, Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a)(ii) states that the Commission shall consider “the likelihood of the proposed service being permanent and continuous throughout 12 months of the year.”

Finally, the 1931 laws stated that the Commission shall consider “the effect which such proposed transportation service may have upon other forms of transportation service which are essential and indispensable to the communities to be affected by such proposed transportation service or that might be affected.” 1931 Mont. Laws 491 at 499. Similarly, Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a)(ii) states that the Commission shall consider “the effect that the proposed transportation service may have on other forms of transportation service that are essential and

indispensable to the communities to be affected by the proposed transportation service or that might be affected by the proposed transportation service.”

The “needs” analysis when reviewing Certificate applications has remained nearly identical since 1931 and has been deemed constitutional in both *Barney* and *Fulmer*. The Court should follow those cases and uphold the constitutionality of Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(a).

The remaining two challenged provisions—the protest provision in Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321 and the consideration of competition in Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(b)—are not applied in all circumstances. Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-321(if a protest is filed); Mont. Code Ann. § 69-12-323(2)(b) (the Commission may consider competition). It is impossible for Noland to demonstrate the Provisions are unconstitutional in all instances because of the permissive nature of the statutes. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-323(2)(b) and 69-12-321. *See Disability Rights Mont. v. State*, 2009 MT 100, ¶¶ 9–10, 28, 350 Mont. 101, 207 P.3d 1092 (discussing how plaintiffs cannot succeed in facial challenges to statutes when the statute requires case-by-case application of the facts). The application of Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-321 and 69-12-323(2)(b) depends on the facts and circumstances of each case. Therefore, Noland cannot demonstrate that these provisions are unconstitutional in all circumstances, and his facial constitutional claims fail as a matter of law. The

District Court’s conclusion that Noland cannot demonstrate the Provisions are unconstitutional in all instances must be affirmed.

III. AMICUS ARGUMENTS CONCERNING STANDING DO NOT HELP RESOLVE THIS CASE.

Amicus Goldwater Institute (“Goldwater”) attempts to argue that in similar permit and licensing schemes, plaintiffs have standing. Goldwater Br. 3–7. However, the majority of cases Goldwater relies on are First Amendment free speech cases. Goldwater Br. 3–6; *see e.g., Staub v. City of Baxley*, 355 U.S. 313, 325 (1958). In one such case, the Court held that First Amendment cases are unique with regard to pre-enforcement challenges. *Brown v. Kemp*. 86 F.4th 745, 761 (7th Cir. 2023). Noland’s case is not a First Amendment challenge, and the case law concerning First Amendment pre-enforcement challenges are non-binding and unpersuasive.

The non-free speech cases are simple repetition of Noland’s own unpersuasive and legally incorrect arguments. *See* Goldwater Br. 4 (citing *Merrifield v. Lockyer*, 547 F.3d 978 (9th Cir. 2008), *Bruner*, 997 F. Supp. 2d 691, and *City of Chicago*, 357 U.S. 77).⁴ Similarly, Amicus Cato Institute repeats Noland’s “unconstitutional obstacle” theory, which is not based in Montana law. Cato Br. Section I(B)⁵; *Supra* Section II(B).

⁴ The State distinguished each case in Sections I, II, and V(d).

⁵ Cato did not provide page numbers on its brief.

Finally, Goldwater highlights that a plaintiff must show “a credible threat of injury exists” to bring a pre-enforcement challenge. Goldwater Br. 6. When the U.S. Supreme Court has discussed the credible threat of injury, it has stated that “persons having no fears of state prosecution except those that are imaginary or speculative, are not to be accepted as appropriate plaintiffs”. *Babbitt v. UFW Nat’l Union*, 442 U.S. 289, 298, 99 S. Ct. 2301, 2309 (1979). Similarly, “when plaintiffs do not claim that they have ever been threatened with prosecution, that a prosecution is likely, or even that a prosecution is remotely possible, they do not allege a dispute susceptible to resolution by a federal court.” *Id.* at 298–99. Just like other cases amicus rely on, *Babbitt* only concerns pre-enforcement challenges to criminal statutes. *Id.* at 298.

Regardless, Noland’s claims are all speculative. His business, which is not a party to this case, has not been threatened with prosecution, rather, only fines. Opening Br. 6 fn. 4. Noland, himself, has never been threatened with prosecution or fines personally. Also, to demonstrate how speculative Noland’s claim is, he as an individual could only apply for a Certificate as a sole proprietor. His business, PBN LLC, is not a sole proprietorship. Nothing in the record suggests he has plans to be a sole proprietorship. Also, using Noland’s legally incorrect “unconstitutional barrier” theory, his arguments are equally as speculative. Only *if* Noland becomes a sole proprietor, *if* he applies to the Commission for a Certificate, *if* his application is protested, and *if* the Commission considers competition would he potentially face

any barrier at all. Similarly, Noland has many complaints of the cost of applying for a Certificate. Opening Br. 5–6. Those costs are similarly speculative, because as a sole proprietor, Noland would not need to retain an attorney, even if the application were protested. Mont. Admin. R. 38.2.314; *See Sangorin*, ¶ 11. This speculation demonstrates that Noland, as an individual plaintiff, has not suffered past, present, or threatened injury and therefore has no standing to bring his claims.

IV. NOLAND’S ARGUMENTS CONCERNING THE SPECIFIC MERITS OF EACH OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS ARE NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

Noland argues that the challenged provisions are unconstitutional under the U.S. and Montana Equal Protection Clause, the U.S. and Montana Due Process Clause, the U.S. Privileges and Immunities Clause,⁶ and article II, section 3 of the Montana Constitution. Opening Br. 17–40. Noland made nearly identical arguments to the District Court in his motion for summary judgment. However, the District Court did not reach the merits of any of the asserted constitutional claims and made no legal determinations concerning the asserted constitutional claims. (*See generally* Doc. 101). Rather, the District Court found that all of Noland’s as-applied and facial constitutional claims fail at threshold requirements to bring such claims. *Id.* at 5–6.

⁶ Noland only raised his Privileges and Immunities Clause claim for the purpose of appeal and did not make any substantive arguments. Opening Br. 37, fn. 15. Noland correctly acknowledges his Privileges and Immunities claim fails under *The Slaughter House Cases*. *Id.*

Without legal determinations made by the District Court concerning the merits of any of Noland's specific constitutional claims, there are no legal determinations about the specific constitutional claims for this court to review for correctness. Therefore, Noland's arguments on pages 17–40 of his Opening Brief are improperly before this Court and should be disregarded.

Similarly, this Court's options for disposing of an appeal are limited. M. R. App. P. 19(1). Of importance here, "the supreme court's decision to overturn or modify a decision of the district court constitutes a reversal *of that portion of the judgment or order of the district court* from which the party took the appeal. *Id.* at (1)(b) (emphasis added). Here, Noland requests that the Court reverse the District Court's opinion *and* grant summary judgment in Noland's favor. Opening Br. 41 (emphasis added). Any grant of summary judgment on each of Noland's specific constitutional claims would be improper under Montana Rule of Appellate Procedure 19 because there is not a portion of the order of the District Court discussing Noland's specific constitutional claims.

For both of the above reasons, the State requests that if the District Court is not affirmed on the threshold issues concerning Noland's as-applied and facial challenges, the Court remand this case to the District Court to consider Noland's specific constitutional claims in the first instance.

V. IF THE COURT CONSIDERS THE MERITS OF EACH OF NOLAND’S CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS, IT SHOULD UPHOLD THE CHALLENGED STATUTES.

Originally, Noland asserted that Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-321, 69-12-323, and all of Title 38, Chapter 3 of the Montana Administrative Rules were unconstitutional. (*See* Doc 1 at 21). In the Complaint, Noland generally referred to these statutes and rules as the “Competitor’s Veto.” *See generally* Doc. 1. Similarly, Noland did not define the “challenged provisions” in his Opening Brief before this Court and readily admits that he does not challenge the constitutionality of all the provisions in Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-321, 69-12-323 and Title 38, Chapter 3 of the Montana Administrative rules. *See e.g.*, Opening Br. 17. Noland’s pleadings leave both the State and the Court guessing at exactly what regulations he challenges as unconstitutional.

Under Noland’s constitutional theories, the Court must decide whether the Provisions were reasonably related to a permissible legislative objective when the legislation was enacted. *Duane C. Kohoutek, Inc. v. State*, 2018 MT 123, ¶ 27, 391 Mont. 345, 417 P.3d 1105. Legislative decisions are “not subject to courtroom factfinding and may be based on rational speculation unsupported by evidence or empirical data.” *FCC v. Beach Communications*, 508 U.S. 307, 315 (1993); *see also Hughes v. Alexandria Scrap Corp.*, 426 U.S. 794, 812 (1976). Noland relies heavily on the testimony of a single expert witness about permissible legislative objectives.

See e.g. Opening Br. 9, 25, 27, 28, 31.⁷ Noland asserts that Dr. Bailey (Noland’s expert) “demonstrated need review laws result in higher costs, lower access to services and lower quality services.” Opening Br. 27. Noland also asserts Dr. Bailey demonstrated, in the medical context, need review laws reduce access to services in rural areas. Opening Br. 28. However, Dr. Bailey provided no review of garbage hauling regulations. (See Doc. 57). Most importantly, he provides no insight into whether the Provisions were reasonably related to a permissible legislative objective when the Provisions were enacted. Following *Kohoutek* and *Beach Communications*, Dr. Bailey’s opinions are irrelevant to any of Noland’s constitutional claims and should not be considered.

A. NOLAND’S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO PURSUE EMPLOYMENT HAS NOT BEEN VIOLATED.

The Montana Constitution protects the fundamental right to pursue employment. *Wadsworth v. State*, 275 Mont. 287, 299–301, 911 P.2d 1165, 1172–73 (1996). In *Wadsworth*, the Court defined what it means to pursue employment. The Court held that a Department of Revenue rule that *precluded* employees from engaging in independent work during off-duty hours violated the plaintiff’s constitutional right to pursue employment. *Wadsworth*, 275 Mont. at 292 (emphasis

⁷ Citations to Doc. 57.00 in Noland’s Opening Brief are citations to Dr. Bailey’s declaration.

added). Following *Wadsworth*, only a prohibition from pursuing employment violates an individual's fundamental right to pursue employment.

Nothing precludes Noland from pursuing a Certificate from the Commission. Noland can apply for a Certificate at any time. *See* Mont. Code Ann. §§ 69-12-314, -321. The application process, itself, is the *pursuit* of employment. The facts also show applicants can receive Certificates from the Commission, whether the application is protested or not. (Doc. 101 at 2). Therefore, neither the Provisions themselves, nor the Commission's implementation of the Provisions, preclude Noland from *pursuing* a Certificate. *Wadsworth* is distinguishable from the case before this Court.

Noland also desires to pursue a particular job as the owner of a garbage hauling business. Pursuit of a particular job is not protected by the Montana Constitution. *Wiser*, ¶ 24. Noland may pursue employment in the garbage hauling industry by seeking employment from an existing garbage hauler. Noland can also pursue a Certificate from the Commission. Because nothing precludes Noland from pursuing employment, *Wadsworth* is inapposite.

This Court clarified in *Wiser* that the Montana Constitution does not provide a fundamental right to any particular job or a right to pursue employment free of regulation. *Id.* The Court held the Montana Constitution “granted the fundamental right to pursue employment,” but “it also circumscribed that right by subjecting it to

the State’s police power to protect the public’s health and welfare. Liberty is necessarily subordinate to reasonable restraint and regulation by the state in the exercise of its sovereign prerogative-police powers.” *Id.* (internal quotations and citations omitted). This Court has already held that the Provisions are a legitimate exercise of police powers. *Barney*, 93 Mont. at 138. Therefore, following *Wiser*, Noland has no fundamental constitutional right to pursue employment as the owner of a garbage hauling business free of the Provisions that regulate entry into the garbage hauling market. Noland’s arguments that “the provisions challenged here violate [Noland’s] right to pursue employment by presenting a substantial barrier to him operating a garbage hauling business” directly contradict the holding in *Wiser*. Opening Br. 22. Noland’s arguments must be rejected.

Noland’s fundamental right to pursue employment has not been implicated, so strict scrutiny analysis is not appropriate. *Wiser*, ¶ 25. Noland has not argued that the Provisions failed rational basis review. He has therefore waived any such argument. *Pilegram v. Greenpoint*, 2013 MT 354, ¶ 20, 373 Mont. 1, 313 P.3d 839. Because Noland has not argued that the Provisions failed rational basis review, the Court can and should deny his claims. *Wiser*, ¶ 25.

B. THE PROVISIONS ARE CONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE DUE PROCESS CLAUSE.

The due process clause states that “[n]o person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law.” Mont. Const. art. II § 17; *accord* U.S. Const.

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